

European Region

Assessing the value of urban green and blue spaces for health and well-being







European Centre for Environment & Human Health



WHO Collaborating Centre on Natural Environments and Health The WHO European Centre for Environment and Health, now located in Bonn, Germany, was established in 1989 by the First European Conference on Environment and Health and is an integral part of the WHO Regional Office for Europe. The centre provides technical and scientific expertise on the impacts of the environment on health. It delivers policy advice and tools to inform and support decision-making in the areas of air quality; access to safe drinking-water, sanitation and hygiene; minimizing the adverse effects of chemicals; adaptation to and mitigation of climate change; environmental sustainability of health systems; urban health planning, including transport and mobility; and violence and injury prevention. It works with partners to develop collaborative initiatives addressing environment-related diseases. The centre also strengthens country capacities to address environment and health challenges through a range of training courses on environment and health, including health impact assessments.



European Region

Assessing the value of urban green and blue spaces for health and well-being

Abstract

A growing body of evidence demonstrates the potential of urban green and blue spaces to support and promote health and well-being. These impacts can be used to value the multifunctional benefits (and risks) derived from these spaces. Valuing green and blue spaces is particularly important for policy-makers and practitioners owing to land scarcity and competing land usages. These constraints call for the efficient resource allocation of natural and financial capitals. Therefore, urban planning and design should take account of the value of nature – for environmental, social and health benefits, and in economic terms. This report outlines the range of benefits from urban green and blue spaces and the different approaches, both qualitative and quantitative, that policy-makers and practitioners can use to assess the value of urban green and blue spaces and their impacts on health and well-being.

KEYWORDS

ENVIRONMENT AND PUBLIC HEALTH - NATURE - BIODIVERSITY - URBAN HEALTH - ECONOMICS

Document number: WHO/EURO:2023-7508-47275-69347

© World Health Organization 2023

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition: Assessing the value of urban green and blue spaces for health and well-being. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2023".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

Suggested citation. Assessing the value of urban green and blue spaces for health and well-being. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2023. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use. The named authors alone are responsible for the views expressed in this publication.

Cover images: ©WHO/Matthias Braubach

Design by Pellegrini

Contents

Acknowledgments					
Ab	Abbreviations Glossary				
Glo					
Exe	ecutive summary	ix			
1.	Introduction	1			
2.	Defining urban green and blue spaces and their human health impacts	2			
3.	Benefits from urban green and blue spaces	4			
	3.1 Environmental benefits	4			
	3.2 Health and well-being benefits	5			
	3.3 Social benefits	7			
	3.4 Cultural and spiritual benefits	8			
4.	Risks associated with urban green and blue spaces	9			
	4.1 Injuries, death and safety	9			
	4.2 Pollen and allergies	10			
	4.3 Vectors and zoonotic diseases	10			
	4.4 Infections and antimicrobial resistance	10			
5.	Visualizing complex connections between environment and health				
6.	Why value and who should take it into account?				
7.	Methods to assess values	14			
	7.1 Qualitative approaches to understanding value	14			
	7.2 Quantitative economic approaches to understanding value	15			
	7.3 Estimating the health values of urban green and blue spaces	17			

8.	Valuation of the health benefits of urban green and blue spaces	
	8.1. Steps in the valuation	21
	8.2 Challenges in the valuation	22
9.	Equity issues – who pays and who benefits	23
	9.1 Who pays?	23
	9.2 Who benefits?	23
10.	Which tools are used for valuing?	24
11.	How to appraise approaches to valuing nature	25
	11.1 Critical appraisal of economic valuations	25
	11.2 Critical appraisal of qualitative research	25
12.	Evidence gaps and research needs	26
13.	Key messages and potential solutions	27
References		

Acknowledgments

The report was prepared by Tim Taylor, Ruth Garside, Matilda Attrill and Lora E. Fleming (WHO Collaborating Centre on Natural Environments and Health, European Centre for Environment and Human Health, University of Exeter, Truro, United Kingdom).

Production of the report was supported by Matthias Braubach and Sinaia Netanyahu (WHO European Centre for Environment and Health, WHO Regional Office for Europe) through conceptual guidance on content and structure, provision of case study information, and the review of drafts.

WHO acknowledges the technical support of the following contributors: Sarah Bell, Lewis Elliott, Joanne K. Garrett, James Grellier, Cornelia Guell, Rebecca Lovell, George Morris, Lara Warnecke, Benedict Wheeler and Vanessa Gordon (European Centre for Environment and Human Health, University of Exeter, Truro, United Kingdom).

WHO also thanks the reviewers for their input and helpful comments on an earlier version of this report: Marija Bockarjova (University of Twente, Enschede, the Netherlands), Tobias Börger (Berlin School of Economics and Law, Berlin, Germany), Nina Lemaire (French Healthy Cities Network, Rennes, France) and Shiri Zemah-Shamir (Reichman University, Herzliya, Israel).

This report was produced with the financial assistance of the German Federal Ministry of Health and the German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation, Nuclear Safety and Consumer Protection.

— v —

Abbreviations

DALY	disability-adjusted life-year
DPSEEA	Drivers–Pressures–State–Exposure–Effect–Action (framework)
eDPSEEA	ecosystems-enriched Drivers-Pressures-State-Exposure-Effect- Action (framework)
EU	European Union
InVEST	Integrated Valuation of Ecosystem Services and Tradeoffs
LGBTQ+	lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer and intersex
QALY	quality-adjusted life-year
VSL	value of a statistical life

Glossary

In this report, the following terms are defined as shown below. The authors acknowledge that different definitions may exist in the literature. Each term is shown in **bold** at the first mention in the main text.

Bequest value	The value placed on benefits for future generations (e.g. that in 100 years' time a park will be available for use).
Choice experiment	A valuation method based around stated preferences. Individuals are presented with a choice card, detailing the options or scenarios for an intervention or policy change, often compared with keeping the current situation (e.g. a change to green spaces in a city). These options are described by a number of characteristics, and include a costs attribute associated with each of the proposed options. Statistical analysis is used to identify how much each of the characteristics affects people's preferences for urban green space and how much people's willingness to pay is affected by changes in each of these attributes (e.g. proportion of trees, or children's play equipment).
Citizen science	The practice of public participation and collaboration in scientific research to increase scientific knowledge.
Contingent behaviour method	Technique that can be used to value the environment through changes in stated behaviour in response to a change in that environment (e.g. changes in number of visits to parks due to improved facilities). This can, for example, be combined with willingness to pay estimates for visits to give an economic value.
Direct-use value	The value associated with physical interaction with a blue or green space.
Disability- adjusted life-year (DALY)	One DALY represents the loss of the equivalent of 1 year of full health. DALYs for a disease or health condition are the sum of the years of life lost owing to premature mortality and the years lived with a disability due to prevalent cases of the disease or health condition in a population.
Ecosystem services	The varied benefits to humans provided by the natural environment and healthy natural ecosystems, including agricultural, aquatic, marine, forest, park and other natural spaces. They are divided into regulating and maintenance services (e.g. climate regulation, water and air purification, and soil formation), provisioning services (e.g. food and raw materials), and cultural services (e.g. recreation and tourism).
Existence value	The value associated with knowing something exists, even if you never visit it. It goes beyond other use and non-use values associated with urban nature.
Go-along interviews	Interviews conducted with participants while they are interacting with a green or blue space.
Indirect-use value	The value associated with a green or blue space that is not derived from actual interaction with the space. An examples is the benefit people derive from having a view of a park from their window.
Instrumental values	These relate to the benefits that flow from the specific use or exploitation of a space by an individual, community or society.

Market-based valuation	Technique by which monetary values can be assessed by analysing market data (e.g. the value of foraged food).
Narrative mapping	Process of getting participants to map their narrative around a green or blue space interaction by giving them the resources to write or draw about their thoughts, feelings and emotions when engaging with these spaces. The maps support qualitative interviews to gain insight into the values that people place on urban green and blue spaces.
Objective intrinsic value	Value of something in and of itself; does not rely on an individuals' judgement.
Photovoice	Method combining photography of interactions with green and blue spaces and using the photographs to get people to think back and reflect on how and why they value the engagement.
Quality-adjusted life-year (QALY)	One QALY is equal to 1 year of life in perfect health. QALYs are calculated by estimating the years of life remaining for a person following a particular treatment or intervention and weighting each year with a quality-of-life score.
Relational values	Values that are not inherent to spaces or things, but relate to the accumulation and expressions of the interpretations, meaning, history and representations of the resource.
Subjective intrinsic value	A judgement made by someone that something has value in and of itself.
Travel cost method	A pricing method that seeks to estimate a monetary value based on the amount that people actually pay (in money and time) to gain access to sites.
Urban green and blue spaces	This report uses urban green space as a generic term for natural features within urban environments, including open spaces such as parks and gardens, green walls, street trees, and planting within built structures. Urban blue space refers to any water body such as the coastal margins of cities, natural or canalized rivers, ponds within city parks, and fountains.
Value of a life-year lost	The value of a year of life lost due to premature mortality.
Value of a prevented fatality	The maximum value that it is reasonable to pay for a measure that will reduce by one the expected number of preventable premature deaths in a population.
Value of a statistical life	The maximum value that it is reasonable to pay for a measure that will reduce the number of fatalities by one.
Willingness to pay	The amount of money that an individual is willing to pay to bring about a change in the quality or quantity of a good or service (e.g. a green or blue space).

Executive summary

Introduction

A growing body of evidence demonstrates the potential of **urban green and blue spaces** to generate better health and well-being. Better quality spaces are linked to better human health outcomes, and poorer quality spaces to poorer outcomes. This report outlines the health and well-being impacts (both positive and negative) of urban green and blue spaces that might contribute to assessments of its value, and presents methodologies that policy-makers and practitioners can use to value these impacts.

Defining urban green and blue spaces and their human health impacts

This report uses **urban green space** as a generic term for natural features within urban environments, such as parks, gardens, green walls and street trees. **Urban blue space** refers to any water body, such as coastal margins of cities, natural or canalized rivers, ponds within city parks, and fountains.

Benefits and risks from urban green and blue spaces

A range of human health and well-being impacts exist. Potential benefits can be:

- environmental, such as carbon capture and storage and improved water quality;
- Iinked to health and well-being, including physical health (directly, e.g. reduced air pollution and cooling effects; indirectly, e.g. through increased opportunities for physical activity) and mental health and well-being (e.g. stress relief or reducing harms such as noise);
- $rac{T}{2}$ social, such as supporting social contact and cohesion; and
- **cultural and spiritual,** such as education, heritage and creative benefits.

Types of potential risks include:

- injuries, death and safety (e.g. drownings and impacts associated with extreme weather events);
- pollen and allergies (e.g. from street trees and other planting);
- vectors and zoonotic diseases (e.g. Lyme disease from tick bites); and
- infections and antimicrobial resistance (e.g. from exposure to organisms in soil, water and other media).

Why value and who should take it into account?

Space in urban areas is limited and competition over its usages is growing. Understanding and valuing the multifaceted benefits (and risks) of urban green and blue spaces may support better decision-making about allocating resources to protect or enhance such spaces.

Methods to assess the value of urban green and blue spaces

A number of different approaches, both qualitative and quantitative, can be used to assess the value of urban green and blue spaces. Qualitative approaches (e.g. using interviews or focus groups) can capture aspects such as the meanings that spaces hold for people or the emotional experiences they cause, which are not easily enumerated. Quantitative studies can include estimating health outcomes or numbers of users or the monetary valuation of benefits. A range of quantitative, economic valuation methods exist, including **market based** (using market costs), stated preference (using people's stated **willingness to pay** for features or improvements, e.g. through **choice experiments**); and revealed preference (using the actual costs incurred, e.g. cost to travel to a green space or house prices near a blue space).

Estimating the health values of urban green and blue spaces

Techniques from economics can be used to value the health benefits of urban green and blue spaces. These include assessing the cost of illness using **quality-adjusted life-years (QALYs)/disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs)** to enable comparisons between changes in different health states, or using the **value of a statistical life (VSL)** to value changes in mortality. Wider concepts of value such as social and cultural values may also be incorporated.

Steps to value the health benefits of urban green and blue spaces



Several tools are available to support the valuation of green spaces and their health benefits. When assessing existing valuations, specific tools can be used to critically appraise the methods used and understand their strengths and weaknesses, which is key to ensuring that good evidence informs decision-making.

Challenges in valuation

The decision as to which method is most appropriate depends on factors such as the time available, financial resources and specific nature of the investment being considered.

Equity issues

Benefits and risks are not distributed equitably. Communities with lower socioeconomic status and neighbourhoods with higher migrant and Black and minority ethnic populations often experience poorer quality environmental conditions and, therefore, have less access to potential benefits of urban green and blue spaces. Elderly and disabled people; women; and lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer and intersex (LGBTQ+) communities may also make less use of spaces with few facilities or those perceived as unsafe. These inequities may be exacerbated in spaces where entrance fees are charged.

Evidence gaps and needs for research

Further research is needed on the use of green space, dose–response for exercise and health outcomes, negative impacts, valuation of morbidity, and well-being valuation methods. The use of consistent methodology would improve the transferability of results between settings. More studies are needed from countries in eastern and southern areas of the WHO European Region and from non-European Union (non-EU) countries and on the relative costs and benefits of improving green and blue spaces, considering both the capital costs and operating/maintenance costs.

Key messages

- Use the available tools to quantitatively and qualitatively value the health benefits of urban green and blue spaces, and use this information to improve policy-making.
- Design green and blue spaces that enable physical activity and improve mental health and well-being to give the greatest benefit for health.
- Critically appraise the quantitative and qualitative evidence on nature benefits so that policy-makers can understand the quality of the evidence on the health value of green and blue spaces.
- Involve a range of stakeholders who place different values on urban green and blue spaces in developing appropriate strategies.
- Ensure that all policies that impact green and blue spaces (from climate adaptation to urban development policies) consider the health and well-being implications for urban populations, as well as the environmental and social impacts.
- Promote knowledge-sharing and training on valuation of the health and well-being benefits of green and blue spaces, including on economic valuation and qualitative methods.

— x —

1. Introduction

The natural environment impacts health and well-being, both positively and negatively. Complex interactions between the environment, society and economics affect individuals and are influenced by wider social, cultural and political factors that determine the effects of these interactions on health. Growing evidence supports the potential of **urban green and blue spaces** to generate better health and well-being (Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services, 2022; Jimenez et al., 2021; WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2021a). Better quality spaces (in terms of their ecology and/ or upkeep) are linked to better health outcomes, and poorer quality spaces to poorer health outcomes. Such impacts contribute to the value of urban green and blue spaces to society.

However, the benefits and risks of natural environments, and the associated investments are not distributed equitably. Communities with lower socioeconomic status tend to experience poorer quality environmental conditions (European Environment Agency, 2022). Such environmental inequity contributes to health inequities and results in broader well-being injustices. The environmental and health policy challenge for the 21st century is to navigate the unprecedented level of complexity (in terms of interconnections between social, cultural, political, environmental and individual factors in the context of climate change) to deliver improved health and well-being, equity and environmental sustainability, while identifying and countering risks from the consequences of policies and actions.

This report first outlines the potential health and well-being impacts (both benefits and risks) of urban green and blue spaces that might contribute to assessments of its value. It provides an example of a conceptual model that can be used by decision-makers to identify and present the ways in which activities may impact urban green and blue spaces and their effects on health and well-being. It then presents the rationales and methodologies that policy-makers and practitioners can use to value these impacts. Throughout, it includes case studies from across the WHO European Region to show how these methods have been applied to value health and well-being impacts of urban green and blue spaces.

This report is intended to stimulate discussion and action among policy-makers and practitioners – including mayors, council officials, public health practitioners and other local and national government officials – who are interested in the interconnected areas of urban planning, health and environment to further investigate and capitalize on the benefits of green and blue spaces for health and well-being.

2. Defining urban green and blue spaces and their human health impacts

There are no universally accepted definitions of urban green and blue spaces with relevance to their value for public health (Taylor and Hochuli, 2017; WHO, 2016). This report uses the term urban green space as a generic term for natural features within urban environments, not only open spaces such as parks and gardens but also green walls, street trees, planting within built structures. Similarly, urban blue space refers to any water body, such as coastal margins of cities, natural or canalized rivers, ponds within city parks, or even fountains (see Glossary). These spaces may be publicly accessible (such as parks) or private (such as domestic gardens or areas restricted to local residents or requiring an entry fee). In some climate zones, relatively natural spaces may have limited vegetation and low greenness, but still afford health and well-being benefits in similar ways to greener and bluer spaces.

Green and blue urban spaces can impact health and well-being through a range of mechanisms, and so impact a broad range of health and well-being outcomes (discussed in section 3). Equally, urban green and blue spaces may pose human health risks (described in section 4). Furthermore, natural environment interventions (such as rewilding, park restructuring or coastal developments) have the potential to widen health inequities (Anguelovski et al., 2019).

The health and well-being impacts of green and blue spaces depend not only on their presence and quantity (for example, the size or area of the park) but also on other factors such as their qualities. However, evidence is limited on the importance of different green/blue space qualities for their health impacts (Knobel et al., 2021; Vandergert et al., 2021).

These qualities include the characteristics of the natural environment itself, such as their biodiversity or water quality (Case study 1 shows the impact of perceived water quality on the recreational value of



Case Study 1

Recreational value of blue spaces and the impact of water quality perception

Location

Blue space sites (including lakes, reservoirs, urban rivers/ canals, harbours and outdoor public pools) across 14 EU countries (Bulgaria, Czechia, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, United Kingdom).



(0)

Time frame

Published in 2021, data collected 2017-2018.



Methods

Recreational value (travel cost and contingent behaviour method). Travel costs were used to estimate the recreational value of visits through calculation of the consumer surplus. Data were collected through an international online survey distributed in four seasonal waves during 2017 and 2018 as part of the EU Horizon 2020 BlueHealth project (BlueHealth, 2020a).

Liverpool waterfront, United Kingdom





Key results

The annual value of recreational visits to blue spaces across the 14 EU countries was estimated to be €631 billion when extrapolated to the total adult population, equivalent to an annual benefit of €1938 per adult in each country (ranging from €1071 in France to €3527 in Germany). Each recreational visit to a blue space site had an estimated value of €41.32. Improving the water quality was estimated to lead to 3.13 more visits annually, thereby increasing the recreational value by €129.25 per adult per year.

Source: Börger et al., 2021.



blue space). They also include the facilities that can make spaces more attractive or usable such as paths, benches, lighting, toilets and cafes. These physical characteristics combined with maintenance regimes, environmental incivilities such as litter, and the urban context shape less tangible, but critically important, qualities such as safety, both perceived and objective (Sreetheran and van den Bosch, 2014).

Alongside the physical proximity and availability, the qualities of a green/blue space impact the perceived accessibility. Spaces may be more or less inclusive, and the physical, social, cultural and historic characteristics of spaces (including racism) may lead to inequitable access and consequences for health and environmental inequities (Jennings et al., 2019; Phoenix et al., 2021).

The wider context of urban green and blue spaces (for example the rarity/scarcity or accessibility/proximity of such spaces) also impacts their value for health and well-being. Within dense urban areas with limited green/blue space availability, the value of any single natural space will be higher than in an area with a greater availability of alternative spaces (Bockarjova et al., 2020). Spaces within central city areas that are easily accessible to large populations may have a greater overall health impact than similar spaces in periurban areas that are only accessible by public or private transport and so may be used by fewer people.

This complexity suggests that a single, precise definition of urban green and blue spaces may not be useful to capture their health value. Instead, it is important to consider the characteristics of the natural environment features within their built, social and economic context when attempting to understand their value for health.

3. Benefits from urban green and blue spaces

This section outlines the various direct and indirect health and well-being benefits that people may gain from urban green and blue spaces and which have been, or could be, used to inform the valuation of such spaces.

3.1 Environmental benefits

Urban green and blue spaces provide a wide range of environmental benefits. These benefits are often experienced at a larger spatial and temporal scale than other more direct impacts. Such spaces can also provide co-benefits by contributing to climate change mitigation efforts, with the potential to reduce harm to human health globally. For example, urban green space (particularly in terms of trees, vegetation and soils) can provide substantial carbon capture and storage. One study estimated that 956 000 tonnes of carbon is stored in Beijing's green spaces (Sun et al., 2019). Another study estimated that four parks in Rome sequester 664–998 Mg carbon dioxide per hectare per year (Gratani et al., 2016). Carbon capture can be valued in several ways, for example, in the United Kingdom carbon values (which reflect the societal value placed on emissions reductions) reflect the estimated marginal abatement costs to meet targets for carbon mitigation.

Another example of the wider environmental benefit is the value of urban green and blue spaces for improving water quality. In Finland, urban wetland restoration has been implemented in order to deliver multiple benefits, including improved surface water quality (Wahlroos et al., 2015). The urban forest also plays a part, with the tree canopy intercepting precipitation and changing its chemical composition and the way it flows through a city, although these impacts can be both positive and negative (Decina et al., 2020). Urban trees also provide shade and an improved microclimate. Case study 2 gives an example of valuation of urban tree shading using a replacement cost approach.



Case Study 2

Using replacement cost to value shading from urban trees



Location

Prague, Czechia.



Time frame

Published in 2021, time horizons of 20, 30, 40 and 50 years.



Methods

Replacement cost method. Drawing on a model of the shading provided by trees and estimating the cost of an alternative (parasols) as a proxy for benefits, this study estimated the value of trees for shading in Czechia.

Key results

The discounted present value of tree shade was between \notin 4362 and \notin 9163, depending on the discount rate and length of the period considered. Compared with the costs, this suggests for certain scenarios that only considering the tree shade value (and not the other benefits of an urban tree) can lead to the benefits exceeding the costs (although for higher discount rates this was not the case).

Trees in Prague, Czechia



© Eva Horváthová

Source: Horváthová et al., 2021.

- 4 -



3.2 Health and well-being benefits

The environmental benefits outlined above and the urban environments to which people are exposed have a range of direct and indirect impacts on human health and well-being. These are discussed separately below, but are often interlinked. For example, physical and mental health can impact each other or present as comorbidities, and social and cultural benefits also interact with mental health and well-being.

3.2.1 Physical health benefits

Safe, accessible and high-quality green and blue spaces in cities can have positive impacts on human health and well-being through both direct and indirect pathways. Vegetation of different kinds can directly reduce human exposure to environmental stressors that cause harm to health. For example, street trees can lessen exposure to air pollution, heat and perceived noise (Salmond et al., 2016). These environmental stressors are causally implicated in a huge range of health outcomes, ranging from neurodevelopmental effects to cancers, diabetes and cardiovascular disease. Exposure to air pollution alone affects almost every organ in the body, and controlling this could reduce or prevent the considerable resultant disease burden (Schraufnagel et al., 2019). Case study 3 illustrates the value of trees to reduce air pollution. Furthermore, the cooling effect of green spaces and trees reduces the impact of urban heat islands on health, particularly mortality. Recent research indicates that spending at least 120 minutes per week in natural environments is associated with significantly better health and well-being (White et al., 2019).

Case Study 3

Valuing air pollution removal by urban trees

Published in 2016, fieldwork carried out in 2010.



Location Warsaw Pol

Time frame

Warsaw, Poland.



Methods

Used the i-Tree Eco v5 model to estimate the ability of the 932 trees in Krasiński Gardens in the centre of Warsaw to remove air pollution. A benefit transfer was then used to estimate the monetary value of the air pollution removal by the trees.



Key results

The total air purification had an estimated economic value of 26245.74 Polish złoty per year ($\in 6,016$ per year).

Source Szkop, 2016.





© Zbigniew Szkop

In addition to these direct benefits, green and blue spaces such as parks provide indirect benefits to physical (and mental) health through supporting physical activity (Pearce et al., 2022; Smith et al., 2016) and social interactions, particularly among elderly people (Enssle and Kabisch, 2020). Spending time in natural environments and being involved in physical activity depend on individual choice and behaviour; when active behaviour through exercise takes place, there is a greater possibility to exploit the full potential of access to natural environments. Case study 4 is an example of valuation of green space physical activity opportunities.

Not all health benefits stem from amenities such as parks and street trees. For example, infrastructure (such as sustainable urban drainage systems) makes use of natural materials, vegetation and water-sensitive landscape engineering to mitigate flooding (Davis and Naumann, 2017). Various direct and indirect impacts of floods can otherwise have serious negative impacts on psychological and physiological health, ranging from respiratory problems caused by contact with mould to post-traumatic stress related to flood events and evacuation (Lane et al., 2013; Walker-Springett et al., 2017). Such green and blue infrastructure can also increase groundwater recharge, improve water quality, reduce soil erosion and boost biodiversity, thereby potentially conferring considerable indirect co-benefits to human health and well-being.

3.2.2 Mental health and well-being benefits

Evidence suggests that urban green and blue spaces are protective against poor mental health (Alcock et al., 2014; McEachan et al., 2016; Roberts et al., 2019; South et al., 2018; WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2021b), promote mental well-being (Vert et al., 2020; White et al., 2021) and are also spaces for nature-based health interventions or social prescribing (Britton et al., 2020; Leavell et al., 2019).

The mental health benefits of urban blue and green spaces are not only relevant to the population in general but also for specific groups such as children and teenagers (Tillmann et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2020), older adults (Dempsey et al., 2018) and those from lower socioeconomic groups (Garrett et al., 2019). Exposure to nature in childhood is related to mental health and well-being in later life (Engemann et al., 2019, 2020).



Case Study 4

The economic benefits of physical activity from providing citizens access to urban green space



Location

Thinking Fadura project, Getxo, Spain.



Time frame

Published in 2020, time horizon of 20 years.



Methods

Participatory cost-benefit analysis, including a QALY approach to assess the benefits of green space on physical activity, supported by qualitative indicators to complement the economic assessment.



Signal Key results

The study highlights the economic costs and benefits of providing citizens with access to urban green spaces through a variety of measures, including reducing air and noise pollution, and the health effects of physical activity for citizens. It estimated that 30 minutes of moderate–intense physical activity per week would be equivalent to 0.010677 QALYs per person per year. Based on an estimated social value of 1 QALY of €22 400, the monetary value of the physical activity was estimated at €597 033 over a 20-year time horizon.

Thinking Fadura project, Getxo, Spain



© Silvestre García de Jalón

Source: García de Jalón et al., 2020.

Urban green and blue spaces may confer benefits to mental health and psychological well-being by:

- reducing harms, such as noise annoyance (Dzhambov and Dimitrova, 2014);
- **enabling building capacities**, for example, for physical activity and social interaction (Brito et al., 2022; Markevych et al., 2017; Mitchell, 2013; Thompson Coon et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2021); and
- restoring capacities, such as stress recovery, cognitive restoration (Mygind et al., 2021; Ohly et al., 2016; Stevenson et al., 2018), including improved working memory, directed attention and cognitive flexibility (Stevenson et al., 2018).

The benefits of physical activity to mental health and well-being from may be greater when done in a natural environment rather than indoors (Brito et al., 2022; Mitchell, 2013; Pearce et al., 2022; Thompson Coon et al., 2011), perhaps because of lower exposure to air pollutants and noise (Wickham et al., 2014). Case study 5 gives a valuation example of the combined physical and mental health benefits (and other economic benefits) of urban parks.

Visiting urban blue and green space seems to be particularly important (White et al., 2021), but even having a view of these spaces may benefit mental health and well-being (Dempsey et al., 2018; Nutsford et al., 2013). Although the beneficial relationship between urban blue and green space and mental health and well-being has mostly been evaluated around the home, there can also be benefits in workplace (Gritzka et al., 2020) and educational settings (Vella-Brodrick and Gilowska, 2022). Furthermore, the quality of urban green and blue spaces, such as biodiversity levels (Houlden et al., 2021) and water quality (Pope et al., 2018), may enhance health and well-being benefits.

3.3 Social benefits

Public green and blue spaces in urban environments contribute to social aspects of quality of life and place, play a role in developing a sense of community (Francis et al., 2012), and are linked to a range of social values such as social cohesion and contact. Green spaces play a complex and reciprocal role in the development and expression or realization of social capital for different groups, such as for older people (Hong et al., 2018). They have also been linked to the development of pro-social behaviours in children and adolescents (Francis et al., 2012; Putra et al., 2020).



Case Study 5

The value of public parks and green spaces in London, England (United Kingdom)



Location

London, England (United Kingdom).



Time frame

Published in 2017, values were evaluated over a 30-year period.



Methods

Assessed various sources of economic value including recreation, health (mental and physical), carbon (soil and trees) and residential property.

() Key results

Highlights the economic and well-being value of public parks and green spaces in London. The study found that London avoids £950 million (€1.08 billion) per year in health costs because of public parks: £580 million (€662 million) per year associated with being in better physical health and £370 million (€422 million) per year

St James's Park, London, United Kingdom





through reduced mental health costs. Furthermore, public parks in London were estimated to have a recreational value of £926 million (€1.06 billion) per year. The value of the carbon stored in soil and trees in the Greater London area was estimated at £18 million (€20.5 million) per year.

Source: Vivid Economics, 2017.



The social value of urban green and blue spaces is highly variable. It depends on the match between individual or community needs and expectations and the qualities and accessibility of the space. Realization of the social value of a green or blue space can rely on factors such as the presence of built infrastructure such as paths and benches, which enable contact (Błaszczyk et al., 2020; Perry et al., 2018). Social value can also be affected by the dynamics of different users, with the legitimate use of a space by some community members deterring or interfering with that of others (Dinnie et al., 2013).

Green and blue space interventions can improve social cohesion and other related outcomes such as crime rates and perceptions of safety (Hunter et al., 2019). However, poorly designed interventions can exacerbate social challenges and worsen inequities through processes such as green gentrification (Jelks et al., 2021).

3.4 Cultural and spiritual benefits

Nature-based spirituality (both religious and more secular) is a benefit related to nature encounters and outdoor recreation experiences in urban green and blue spaces (Naor and Mayseless, 2020), and is increasingly linked to nature-based therapy. This important dimension of well-being involves using such spaces to contemplate or meditate; inspire creativity; feel at one with nature or positively towards oneself or nature; experience sacredness or something greater than oneself; and experience a sense of meaning, purpose, acceptance or connectedness (Baur, 2018; Chiesura, 2004).

As much of the wider understanding around spiritual benefits has been developed in relation to remote wilderness experiences, particular qualities of the green and blue spaces might be important in supporting spiritual experiences (Ashley, 2007; Cheesbrough et al., 2019). Research also highlights the importance of perceiving such spaces as beautiful or relaxing or of gaining spiritual benefits by engaging in cultural activities or nature recreation, which may also be experienced in urban areas (Heintzman, 2009).

Nature-based spirituality can also be linked to cultural benefits; for example, particular landscapes can have great spiritual significance linked to cultural identity for certain population groups (Stephenson, 2008). Conversely, there is an increasingly critical literature on urban green and blue spaces as exclusionary, particularly in diverse neighbourhoods, where they can be contested or segregating spaces (Plüschke-Altof and Sooväli-Sepping, 2022; Stodolska et al., 2011).

Other cultural benefits may include education and heritage benefits. The growth of forest schools is an example of the educational value of green space (Garden and Downes, 2021). Heritage benefits include a sense of place (Jones et al., 2020).

4. Risks associated with urban green and blue spaces

Despite the potential for multiple health and well-being benefits from interacting with urban blue and green spaces, there also are tangible risks and disbenefits. This is particularly true for disadvantaged people, such as those of a lower socioeconomic status, Black and minority ethnic groups, recent migrants, elderly people and people with disabilities, who may have limited access to high-quality blue and green spaces in urban environments.

In addition, there are increasing impacts on the quality of urban areas from climate, extreme weather events and other environmental changes (including water, air and soil pollution); increasing population density; biodiversity loss; decreased maintenance and infrastructure investment in green and blue spaces; and other types of environmental quality degradation (European Environment Agency, 2019). Case study 6 shows how addressing infrastructure degradation can increase the value of riversides.

4.1 Injuries, death and safety

The most obvious and easily quantifiable impacts on human health are injuries and deaths. The most dramatic impacts are from extreme natural events, such as cyclones, floods, tornados, wildfires, droughts and tsunamis, which can impact urban areas. Due to climate change, such extreme events and related injuries/deaths are increasing in frequency and/or duration (WHO, 2014) and, therefore, in the scale of impact, particularly as many human populations globally inhabit high-risk coastal, river and desert areas. Beyond the acute deaths, injuries and morbidity during and following extreme events, survivors are at a greater risk of mental health impacts (such as depression) and infectious diseases (Ebi et al., 2021).



Case Study 6

Promoting physical activity through urban riverside regeneration

\bigcirc

Barcelona, Spain.

Time frame Published in 2019; based on data from 2014–2015.

Methods

Location

QALY/DALY approach. Data from the Barcelona local authorities and a meta-analysis of physical activity and health outcomes were used to develop and apply the Blue Active Tool to estimate health and health-related economic benefits of physical activity. The Tool estimates the health impacts in terms of all-cause mortality, morbidity and DALYs. A health economic assessment was estimated in terms of the VSL and direct health costs.

×)

Key results

The estimated annual benefit for park users was 11.1 DALYs, with the greatest benefit found in terms of dementia – 3.5 DALYs avoided. The overall benefits

Besòs River, Barcelona, Spain



© Cristina Vert Roca

to population health when converted into estimates of health-related economic benefits were an estimated reduction of €23 403 186 per year. Cycling and walking for leisure had the greatest health-related economic impact.

Source: Vert et al., 2019.

- 9 ---

In addition to these dramatic and traumatic events, humans interacting with nature are always at risk of injury and death. For example, drownings and near-drownings are associated with all types of water bodies (WHO, 2014), and burns and respiratory diseases with wildfires. In urban areas, especially those with poor maintenance and management of areas such as parks and river or canal banks, there are safety issues (including the risk, and perception of risk, from assault and other violence), particularly for women, recent migrants and minority ethnic groups, and older people and people with disabilities (Sreetheran and van den Bosch, 2014)). Lastly, although green and blue spaces may mitigate urban heat islands, with rising temperatures they can also increase exposure to the harmful effects of sun (ultraviolet radiation), leading to injuries such as heat stroke and sunburn (and the associated skin cancer risk) (Braubach et al., 2017).

4.2 Pollen and allergies

The number of people with allergies and autoimmune diseases such as asthma is increasing, particularly in highly industrialized and urbanized settings. Theories to account for this include the hygiene hypothesis (i.e. historically, children have been exposed earlier to more allergens and microbes), the extensive use of antibiotics and other antimicrobial products, air pollution, and the cumulative impacts of these factors on individual microbiomes.

In the northern hemisphere in particular, increasing carbon dioxide levels and global warming are encouraging the northward migration of exotic plants. Many of these are major pollen producers that may exacerbate allergies or add to the burden of allergies to native plants. In addition, spring is starting earlier and lasting longer, leading to longer pollen exposure times. Moreover, pollen binding to air pollutants increases its allergic and toxic impacts when inhaled, particularly in urban areas (D'Amato et al., 2020). Increased light pollution (particularly in urban areas) can lead to prolonged growing seasons and, potentially, also increasing the allergic impact of pollen (Ray and Ming, 2022).

4.3 Vectors and zoonotic diseases

Climate change combined with increased urbanization and inconsistent policies for wildlife management and international trade increase the risk that interactions between disease vectors (such as ticks and mosquitos), other animals and humans will occur in places where this is currently unknown (Hansford et al., 2022). Many of these vectors carry infectious diseases that can affect the health and well-being of humans and other animals. Thus, tick-borne Lyme disease (caused by the bacterium *Borrelia burgdorferi*) is now endemic in human, deer and rodent populations in many places in the northern hemisphere, including urban areas such as large parks. Malaria carried by the *Anopheles* mosquito had been eradicated in the northern Mediterranean but is now being found again (Medlock and Leach, 2015).

Recent outbreaks of Ebola in Africa are believed to be associated with the encroachment of human settlements into wild natural environments, leading to the transmission to humans of previously unknown or extremely rare zoonotic diseases. The increased population density associated with urbanization, international trade, decreased biodiversity, historical and current colonization, and other globalization activities can lead to the rapid global spread of infectious disease, as witnessed with the COVID-19 pandemic (Keesing and Ostfeld, 2021). The One Health approach provides an insight into such human–animal–environment interconnections (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2022).

4.4 Infections and antimicrobial resistance

There is growing evidence globally of infectious diseases that are resistant to current medications, such as antimicrobials. A complex, system-wide picture is emerging of inappropriate use and overuse of these medications in both health care and the domestic animal food industry, potential synergistic interactions with environmental pollutants (including plastics), the natural evolution of antimicrobial resistance in the environment, and the lack of new microbial therapies being developed.

In green and blue spaces, people are exposed to antimicrobial-resistant organisms through aerosols of human and animal waste, untreated water (including through swimming or at work) and person-to-person contact. This has already led to rapid increases in death and morbidity rates secondary to infection, with multiple antimicrobial resistance increasingly found in urban areas with a high population density (United Nations Environment Programme, 2017).

5. Visualizing complex connections between environment and health

The risks and benefits to human health from urban green and blue spaces (as described in section 4) are often interconnected, and may have complex links to local policy and other actions that impact such spaces. Conceptual models can be useful to represent and visualize complex relationships among relevant factors that influence an outcome of concern. In addition, co-developing such models with different stakeholders could help to work through relevant issues and support decision-making.

In the field of environment and health, a family of conceptual models has been produced from the Drivers– Pressures–State–Exposure–Effect–Action (DPSEEA) framework (Kjellström and Corvalán, 1995). The ecosystems-enriched DPSEEA (eDPSEEA) model represents both socioeconomic complexity and the health and well-being effects of damage to global ecosystems (Reis et al., 2015). It does this by showing two pathways from higher-level interacting driving forces to health and well-being outcomes. In the proximal pathway, driving forces create pressures that change health-relevant characteristics of the environmental state near to a community. In the distal pathway, the same driving forces impact ecosystems and the services they provide, and the health and well-being of people who may live in places far away from the community whose activities generate the harm (Morris et al., 2017).

Fig. 1 shows the eDPSEEA model populated for green and blue spaces in urban areas. Policies and actions that aim to provide good-quality accessible green and blue spaces have the greatest potential to deliver the triple win of health/well-being, reduced inequity and global environmental sustainability (alongside interventions to encourage the local production of wholesome food and create sustainable/active travel).



Fig. 1. The eDPSEEA model populated for green and blue spaces in urban areas

Planning and neighbourhood drivers



Source: modified from Morris et al., 2019.

6. Why should we value urban green and blue spaces and who should do this?

Space is limited in urban areas and competition over its usages is growing. Therefore, understanding the multifunctional benefits of urban green and blue spaces, as well as the potential trade-offs inherent in their provision, may contribute to more consistent decision-making about urban spaces. In a world of trade-offs and competing interests, the lack of health-related evidence on the societal value of benefits and risks associated with urban green and blue spaces can easily result in suboptimal policy.

Policy-makers and other decision-makers face numerous constraints and conflicting priorities from various stakeholders when allocating urban space and investment in, for example, housing, industry, and green and blue spaces. Such spaces impact the quality of life, and environments can reduce, or even prevent, the disease burden if appropriately designed and maintained. Hence, inappropriate planning choices and management may have negative consequences for health and well-being. Valuation (quantitative or qualitative) of urban nature space is needed to ensure that its importance is better understood by those making decisions on resource allocation to protect or enhance such spaces (Tinch et al., 2019). This includes consideration of the benefits for future generations (including **bequest value**).

Green and blue spaces are important to meet several policy objectives. As described in section 3.2, parks and other green and blue spaces are locations for recreation that enable physical activity, mental well-being and social interactions, which in turn reduce the burden of noncommunicable disease (White et al., 2016, 2018). They function as nature-based solutions for carbon mitigation and climate change adaptation through, for example, providing urban cooling and reducing flood risks (Chiabai et al., 2018). They also provide habitats for biodiversity, which can also improve the well-being and health of visitors (Cameron et al., 2020).

Recent studies, including the Dasgupta Review, have highlighted the potential value of nature to society (Dasgupta, 2021). gaining insight into these values is important for mayors, planners and other policy-makers. However, not all values can be assessed and expressed in monetary units, such as the spiritual value of the awe and feelings of inspiration that some people experience when looking at nature (Baur, 2018; Severin et al., 2022). Furthermore, major gaps still exist in assessing the value of benefits.

The stories that people tell and the connection they have with the green and blue spaces in their neighbourhoods also need to be heard, alongside other forms of value attributable to these spaces. For example, limiting the value of green space to price increases of the surrounding residential property would not capture the multitude of benefits that can be attributed to such spaces.

Even with advances in environmental and public health economics, a monetary value cannot be placed all benefits to health and society. Therefore, a mixture of methods is required to understand the value that people attach to urban green and blue spaces.

7. Methods to assess values

This section outlines some of the key approaches that decision-makers can use to assess the impact of urban green and blue spaces on human health and well-being, using both qualitative and quantitative methods.

7.1 Qualitative approaches to understanding value

Benefits are often expressed in physical or monetary terms, but these do not always capture the way that people perceive, measure and value nature (see section 6). Qualitative research can identify the critical aspects (features and functions) of such spaces, as well as the meanings they hold for people and how and why people value them. This might include exploring preferences for vegetation types and how these relate to activities (Talal et al., 2021) or understanding people's motivations for visiting parks and the perceived benefits (Irvine et al., 2013). Such methods do not rely on predetermined expectations about what these might be; instead, they aim to explore the experiential aspects of nature encounters and pay attention to the perceived meaning, importance and impact of these through collecting and analysing people's narrative accounts.

Qualitative research may be particularly useful to uncover less-dominant perspectives and understand the experiences and needs of marginalized groups. Case study 7 shows how qualitative methods were used to explore how young people valued urban nature and their perceptions of how it supports their mental health and well-being.

Qualitative research methodologies also include go-along interviews (Carpiano, 2009) and narrative mapping (Bell et al., 2017), which link people's experiences and observations of green and blue spaces in real time.



Case Study 7

"Nature doesn't judge you" - how urban nature supports young people's mental health and well-being



Location

Sheffield, England (United Kingdom).



Time frame Published in 2020.

Methods

24 participants aged 17-27 years took part in semi-structured interviews to explore "feeling good and not so good in Sheffield". The participants also took part in art workshops that used a range of creative methods to explore ideas relating to their memories of nature, experiences they had had with others in nature and the value of nature for coping with mental health difficulties. Data were analysed using a thematic and diffractive analysis.



So Key results

Participants valued trees and plants, water, and views and open spaces. Three kinds of well-being benefits Bolehill Recreation Ground, Sheffield, United Kingdom



© Harriet Ann Patrick

from urban nature were identified: sense of self, sense of escape and sense of connection and care. However, participants also said that sometimes nature cannot help with mental health problems.

Source: Birch et al., 2020.

— 14 —

Similarly, participatory and **citizen science** methods may enhance the collected data. For example, **photovoice** invites participants to collect and curate their own visual and narrative data on their perceptions of their environments. Such methods can inform or evaluate green and blue space schemes or initiatives based on community preferences and promote community-level advocacy for policy change (King et al., 2020).

7.2 Quantitative economic approaches to understanding value

Economic values derived from green and blue spaces take many forms. Fig. 2 gives an overview of different **ecosystem services** and the values that can be derived from urban green spaces. The concept of total economic value encompasses several value types, some of which pass through markets and are traded but also many that do not (e.g. in general, there is no entry fee for visiting a park for recreation).

Fig. 2. Overview of different ecosystem services and the values that can be derived from urban green and blue spaces



Note: VPF: value of a prevented fatality; VLYL: value of a life-year lost.

— 15 ——

The economic valuation of the benefits of urban green spaces uses a range of methodologies:

- market-based methods, which include the market price (e.g. in the case of paid walking tours) and the avoided damage or replacement cost (e.g. the cost of replacing a tree or of replacing the benefits of green spaces with other technologies; see Case study 2);
- stated preference methods, in which people are asked to value certain services using their stated willingness to pay for a good (Kalfas et al., 2022) or to choose between green spaces with different attributes (i.e. choice experiments) (Tu et al., 2016); for example, people may be asked how much they are willing to pay in increased local taxes for green spaces with different improvements made (e.g. improved access or amenities) applying these methods in contexts where the disposable income is low may lead to inequities if equity is not considered in another way, or if the survey instrument is not appropriately designed; and
- **revealed preference methods**, such as the travel costs associated with visiting a green or blue space (Börger et al., 2021) or the hedonic price method, which assesses the relationship between residential property price and distance to green space or the area of green space around a property (Czembrowski and Kronenberg, 2016).

Several tools attempt to quantify and place monetary values on some benefits of ecosystem services (see section 10). It is beyond the scope of this report to detail the methods used to determine monetary estimates of the value of non-health-related benefits and costs of urban green and blue spaces. However, it is important to consider these alongside health benefits (in either monetary value terms or not) so that such spaces are given appropriate weight in decision-making.

There is a risk of double-counting when adding together the monetary values of health and other benefits. For example, if people consider the health benefit when choosing to walk in a green space, then this would imply that health benefits form part of recreational value estimates. However, this depends on people being able to fully understand the benefit of exercise to health and take that into account when deciding to go to a park.

Notably, economic valuation approaches often focus on the marginal value (valuing small changes to environments), which may make valuing larger changes difficult. Therefore, care is needed when adding monetary values of the health and other benefits of green spaces.



7.3 Estimating the health values of urban green and blue spaces

Several valuation techniques from health and environmental economics can be used to value the health benefits of urban green and blue spaces.

7.3.1 Cost of illness

This approach estimates the resources used in dealing with a health issue. It can be used to value the benefits (e.g. fewer hospital visits or reducing the costs of certain diseases through exercise) or costs (e.g. more allergies or injuries) associated with the use or existence of green spaces (Van Den Eeden et al., 2022). Cost-of-illness approaches include considering health sector costs (e.g. diagnosis and treatment) and time and associated productivity losses (including leisure time). Such studies rarely consider the cost of pain and suffering.

7.3.2 QALYs/DALYs

In order to compare changes in health states across different diseases, health economists have developed measures that encompass both the morbidity and mortality impacts of a condition by considering its impact on both quality of life and life expectancy. Composite measures of this type include QALYs and DALYs (EUFIC, 2011), where 1 QALY is equivalent to 1 year lived in perfect health.

The economic valuation of QALYs and DALYs uses the social value of a QALY (Donaldson et al., 2011) or DALY. Such values have been derived from stated preference studies of the value of these benefits, in which choice experiments use QALYs or DALYs as an attribute and compare them to the cost of a proposed intervention. Case study 8 shows an example in which the improvement in QALYs from physical activity was used to value green spaces.



Case Study 8

Valuing health benefits of exercise in green spaces in England (United Kingdom)



Location

England (United Kingdom).

Time frame

Published in 2016, based on a survey conducted from 2009–2010 to 2014–2015.



Methods

QALY/DALY approach. Drawing on a nationally representative survey of the duration of visits, activities undertaken and environment type, the study estimated that 109 164 QALYs (range: 101 736-116 592) were gained from the 1.23 billion active visits to green space that took place each year. The economic valuation used a social value of QALY based on the value placed on a QALY for health care rationing (£20 000 in the United Kingdom at the time; equivalent to €24 400).

Key results

The estimated annual value of the health benefits of exercise in green spaces in England was £2.18 billion (range: £2.03–2.33 billion), equivalent to €2.66 billion (range: €2.48-2.84 billion). Use of the WHO Health Economic Assessment Tool as a sensitivity check (WHO, 2017a) gave similar estimates of value. This study highlights the benefits of green spaces for health and the need to protect and manage such spaces.



Costal walk in Cornwall, United Kingdom

© James Grellier

Source: White et al., 2016.

7.3.3 Mortality valuation

The valuation of changes in mortality risk attributable to green and blue spaces draws on extensive literature that has derived estimates of the VSL or the **value of a prevented fatality**. These values are commonly derived using either revealed preferences for risk (by comparing income differences for jobs with different risk levels) (Hintermann et al., 2010) or stated preferences around mortality risk reduction (Alberini et al., 2006).

Human capital approaches, which estimate the productivity of individuals, are also sometimes used, particularly when primary estimates of the VSL are not available (Grosse and Krueger, 2011). Such approaches place a value on life using the present value of all future earnings, which is rather controversial since it does not consider the wider benefits of life for the individual and society and undervalues elderly, sick and young people.

In cases where the impact on mortality is to delay death by a few months (e.g. air pollution), some researchers have suggested using the **value of a life-year lost** (Desaigues et al., 2011), which considers life expectancy when valuing mortality. Therefore, the impact of, for example, reducing air pollution (which diminishes life expectancy by 3 months) should not be valued the same as, for example, reducing traffic accidents (where the life expectancy reduction is likely to be much greater). Case study 9 describes an example of valuation of the impact of green spaces on mortality.



Case Study 9

Assessing the impact of green space on mortality in European cities

() Location

31 European countries (Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Croatia, Cyprus, Czechia, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and United Kingdom).

Time frame

Published in 2021, based on data from 2015.

Methods

Used two green space proxies to estimate the preventable mortality burden for 2015 at a city level. The study focused on adults (aged >20 years) in 31 European countries. The proxies (normalized difference vegetation index and percentage of green area) were used to estimate how many deaths could be prevented annually by increasing the amount of green space in European cities. The beneficial health effects of green

Parc des Buttes-Chaumont, Paris, France



© Lynda Harris

spaces included enhanced psychological restoration, improved well-being and mental health, a reduction in cardiovascular disease, and an association between green spaces and decreased natural-cause mortality.



Key results

If the suggested maximum distance for access to green space were achieved, an estimated 42 968 deaths could be prevented annually when using the normalized difference vegetation index proxy. Based on the estimated EU VSL of \in 2.877 (Kahlmeier et al., 2017), the economic benefit of this would be \in 123 billion (2015 prices). Use of the percentage of green area proxy estimated that 17 947 deaths could be prevented annually, correlating to an estimated \in 52 billion. This highlights the importance of increasing green spaces in European cities to reduce mortality. Cities with the highest mortality burdens associated with a lack of green spaces were Athens, Brussels, Budapest, Copenhagen and Riga. In these cities, green spaces were inequitably distributed, with parks located on the city outskirts or concentrated in specific areas. Limited tree coverage elsewhere limited the access to green space for people living in these areas.

Source: Pereira Barboza et al., 2021.

7.3.4 Well-being valuation

There are increasing efforts to estimate the well-being impacts of changes to green and blue spaces. Validated measures of mental and subjective well-being have been used to estimate the impact of improvements to green and blue spaces on the well-being of users and residents living around remediated waste and other degraded sites (van den Bogerd et al., 2021). These estimates can be converted to monetary values using income equivalence approaches, that is, by transferring the results of studies on the impact of changes in income on well-being scores (Maccagnan et al., 2020). For an example of this approach, see Case study 10.

7.3.5 Wider concepts of value

The intrinsic values of natural environments, and the ecosystems and species of which they comprise, relate to the inherent value of such spaces and can be independent of the people who use or experience them and of any benefits they may gain from them (Sandler, 2012). There are two approaches to measuring intrinsic value: the **subjective intrinsic value** is based on when the judgement of a valuer (i.e. a person considering or expressing the value) that something is intrinsically valuable; and the **objective intrinsic value** is independent of anyone's attitudes or judgements, that is, it is not conditional on an individual's opinion (Arias-Arévalo et al., 2017).

Instrumental values relate to the benefits derived from the specific use or exploitation of a green or blue space by an individual, community or society. Ecosystem service valuation is a type of instrumental value expression.

Relational values (also called shared or plural values) are not inherent to spaces or things, but instead relate to the accumulation and expression of the interpretations, meaning, history and representations of the resource (Chan et al., 2016). Relational values can be **individual** (express how important a space is to a person) or **collective** (i.e. a shared perception that a green or blue space has historically been an important centre of a community).

As part of ecosystem services, cultural values (these are shared by people within a community and relate to their sense of identity or world-view) are considered a form of relational value. Green and blue spaces can have multiple, and often conflicting, cultural values (for example, parks may be valued differently by those



Case Study 10

The role of urban green space for human well-being

\bigcirc

) | | | |

Time frame

Location Berlin, Germany.

Published in 2015, based on survey data from 2012.



Methods

Used a life satisfaction approach and two individual green space measures to explore how urban green space affects the well-being of residents in Berlin.

Sey results

The study calculated the implicit marginal rate of substitution between income and environmental variables of green space area and distance. Regarding green space area, the implicit marginal rate of substitution was €26.82 per person per hectare per month based on the average green space availability and average income.

Source: Bertram and Rehdanz, 2015.

Tiergarten Park, Berlin, Germany



© Tim Taylor

who wish to enhance biodiversity and those who seek to use them for recreation), and can be a defining characteristic of community (Stephenson, 2008). A green or blue space has no single fixed relational or cultural value; instead, the value is mutable and contextual, and it may not be possible to reach agreement on the value of such a space.

The term **social value** and associated methods such as social return on investment can be used to represent the full value to society (as far as this is understood or can be captured) of a resource such as a green or blue space, or of an action such as the creation of a green space. Therefore, such approaches to social value incorporate the other types of value discussed in this section, from economic to environmental. In addition, social value can be understood as a set of benefits related to community cohesion, contact and capital. Like community values, social values can be understood, expressed or applied at multiple scales (from individual level to community or societal level) and assessed using a range of methodologies.

Both quantitative and qualitative approaches can be used to assess the social and cultural values of green and blue spaces. Self-reported quantitative approaches can be used to assess factors such as community cohesion, social capital or crime. In-depth qualitative research methodologies can be used to explore these factors ,but also more intangible aspects such as or aesthetic valuation or spiritual experience. They can also be used to better understand lived experiences and the meanings attached to places.



8. Valuation of the health benefits of urban green and blue spaces

8.1. Steps in the valuation

Valuation of the health benefits of urban green and blue spaces involves key steps, several of which apply to both quantitative and qualitative valuation approaches.

Step 1. Identify the green/blue space to be valued

It is first important to identify the green/blue space to be valued. Is it a specific green/blue space? Is it all green/blue spaces in a city? Or a specific change to a green/blue space? The answer to these questions will depend on the needs of the policy-maker.

Step 2. Identify health impact to be quantified

This is perhaps the most difficult step because it involves exploring the different pathways through which green space impacts health (shown in Fig. 1). These may include changes in:

- Physical activity and its impacts in terms of QALYs or outcomes for specific diseases;
- mental health and well-being (which may involve the use of the green/blue space or living near or seeing the green/blue space);
- mitigation of pollution and other environmental risks, e.g. studies have shown that air pollution, noise pollution, flooding and water pollution may be mitigated by green/blue spaces; and
- pollen impacts on asthma and other respiratory diseases;

Step 3. Identify and quantify the affected population

The affected population will normally be people using, living near to or travelling past green/blue space. On-site surveys may be needed to evaluate users of or people travelling past the space, unless these data already exist. Census data may be available for people living in buildings near the green space.

For qualitative studies, purposive or theoretical sampling methods may be used to identify the appropriate populations. Sociodemographic characteristics of the population (such as ethnicity, age, vulnerable groups) may also be needed to allow the assessment of equity implications.

Step 4. Quantify the health impacts (positive and negative)

The quantification of health impacts involves either a new epidemiological study or the transfer (with appropriate adjustments) of knowledge from existing sources on the impact of green spaces on health. An epidemiological study may be based on (i) existing health data (e.g. prescriptions data, emergency room visits or mortality data) or (ii) new surveys to capture the impact of a green space or a change to the nature of a green space on health and well-being, using appropriate scales. The latter are costly and time consuming, but may be necessary if the existing knowledge base is less developed on some impacts than on others. Linkages between researchers and public administrations are important to ensure that data are collected and analysed appropriately.

New analyses may use existing calculations (such as exposure–response functions) to assess the impact of green/blue space on health and well-being. Care is needed when applying an exposure–response function from one city or country to another context (e.g. the relationships between heat and health impacts differ quite a lot between cities in different parts of Europe).

Step 5. Conduct the valuation

Having quantified the health impact, choose an appropriate valuation method (monetary or other; as discussed in section 7) for the particular health end-point. Monetary values can be transferred from existing studies using value transfer methods, but care is needed to adjust for changes in price levels (e.g. using the inflation indices) for studies conducted in different time periods and, depending on the monetary valuation method, for income levels between different locations.

Step 6. Use the value to support decision-making

The value of health can be applied to decision-making in many ways. First, different kinds of values from green space (e.g. recreational value, health value) can be compared with each other, or the same type of value can be compared between green space sites or different uses. Values can be used more formally to inform cost-benefit or cost-effectiveness analysis. A cost-benefit analysis can compare the costs and benefits of interventions over time (using discounting to compare between different years). The net present value of the different streams of costs and benefits can be estimated in order to determine the benefit-cost ratio. A cost-effectiveness analysis compares the costs of an intervention with the benefits, as expressed in physical terms (e.g. cost per QALY). In both cost-benefit and cost-effectiveness analyses, a sensitivity analysis should be conducted to assess changes in assumptions (e.g. the discount rate or the costs).

Decisions should be supported by qualitative evidence on the views and opinions of local residents and users of spaces on the proposed changes. Effective and ongoing consultation is an important part of the planning process and ensures that differing views are considered.

8.2 Challenges in the valuation

The decision on about which method is appropriate to value the health and environmental benefits (or costs) associated with urban green and blue spaces depends on several factors, as follows.

8.2.1 Time

Conducting a full assessment of the values, notably if a new primary study is needed (e.g. a choice experiment study or qualitative interviews), takes significant time (and money). To understand how people are using the parks, it is necessary to consider their use of these spaces in different seasons (unless strong assumptions are made). This involves fieldwork that includes repeated observations in representative days across different seasons, meaning that at least 12 months are needed for data collection – and potentially repeating this exercise in different years. For policy-making, advice is often gathered over a shorter time frame; therefore, assumptions may need to be made or values transferred from other sites. Cities may be able to draw on existing datasets on park or beach use, which could help to quantify the use and, therefore, reduce the cost and time needed for estimating benefits.

8.2.2 Financial resources

Getting representative population samples to respond to questionnaires or holding focus groups or interviews may require considerable financial resources, depending on the location and scale of the research. An online survey can be cheaper, but there are issues about whether the respondents represent all sectors of the population: they tend to be representative of certain characteristics (e.g. age, sex and income level), but not of others (e.g. those with poor digital literacy or the lowest socioeconomic status). Guidelines for online surveys in the context of economic valuation may address some of these issues (e.g. Menegaki et al., 2016).

Simple calculations can sometimes be useful. For example, using the WHO Health Economic Assessment Tool (WHO, 2017a) to estimate the health value of improving an urban walkway in a green space may be sufficient to show that the benefits are large enough to justify investment (and that a further, more-detailed cost-of-illness approach to valuation of the morbidity impact is not needed). In addition, analysis is needed of the sensitivity of the findings to changes in certain assumptions (e.g. discount rates or values of life).

8.2.3 Specific nature of the investment being considered

Stakeholders may only be interested in the direct costs for health care, for example, if a health service wants to invest in forests, it may prioritize assessing the direct cost savings to the health sector itself (i.e. using only health service costs). This approach may lead to increased investment in green and blue spaces but may not capture the breadth of benefits of green/blue spaces and, therefore, lead to suboptimal investment.

9. Equity issues – who pays and who benefits

9.1 Who pays?

When considering an urban green/blue space intervention, it is also important to consider who bears the costs of establishing and maintaining the space. Green and blue spaces may be funded through taxation, businesses, entrance fees and other mechanisms. Where taxes are used, there may be a wider impact (e.g. on how people spend their money, or on their working patterns); this may need to be considered in any calculation of value, alongside estimates of the regressive/progressive nature of the tax (European Commission, 2013).

Increasing attention is being given to the potential for businesses to finance the creation and improvement of green and blue spaces. Recent developments in corporate social responsibility and related practices show that private parties can be involved in co-financing public amenities such as urban green for reasons such as visibility, environmental impact and societal impact (possibly related to formal or informal environment, social and governance reporting (Tsang et al., 2023)). Entrance fees are one way to capture the value of recreation to fund green and blue spaces, but may exacerbate health inequities if lower-income groups are excluded from such spaces. Therefore, differential pricing may need to be considered (e.g. for local residents compared with tourists, or for unemployed people). Whatever the source of financing, a critical question for a city remains how to allocate an appropriate budget for green and blue spaces, considering the other priorities.

9.2 Who benefits?

Despite growing evidence for health and well-being benefits of urban green and blue spaces, it is increasingly clear that access to these benefits is not equitably distributed. In Europe, people living in northern and western cities generally have more access to urban green space, whereas cities in the south and east have less total green space (European Environment Agency, 2022).

Within cities, people from higher socioeconomic groups may be able to access to more green and blue spaces than those from lower socioeconomic groups (Schüle et al., 2017), while neighbourhoods with higher migrant and Black and minority ethnic populations have less available green and blue spaces (WHO, 2017b). Entrance fees may further restrict accessibility. Moreover, ethnic minorities may also have less access to private green spaces such as gardens (Office for National Statistics, 2020). However, when they do have access to green and blue spaces, people from lower socioeconomic groups may experience greater health and well-being benefits (Marselle et al., 2020; Mitchell et al., 2015; Olsen et al., 2019).

Other groups, such as elderly or disabled people, may make less use of spaces with inadequate facilities, such as seating or toilets (Onose et al., 2020). Perceived safety may influence willingness to use green and blue spaces, particularly for women (Lapham et al., 2016), members of LGBTQ+ communities, and elderly people.

10. Which tools are used for valuing?

A number of tools have been developed to assist in valuing green and blue spaces and their health benefits (Box 1 gives an overview of some). Further information on the approaches for valuation of nature can be found in a recent report by the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (2022).

Box 1.

Tools that can be used to value green and blue spaces

Health Economic Assessment Tool, WHO

The Health Economic Assessment Tool combines evidence on the mortality impacts of walking and cycling, including the direct impacts on health and the impacts of exposure to air pollution and fatal accident risk, with the VSL (based on transferring values from existing studies) (WHO, 2023). Users can either input the existing numbers of users and duration of use to estimate the value of current activity levels or define scenarios for the future.

Integrated Valuation of Ecosystem Services and Tradeoffs (InVEST), Stanford University

InVEST offers a suite of tools that help o estimate the values of changes in ecosystems (Stanford University, 2023). It covers a range of benefits, including recreation, urban cooling, water purification and urban flood risk mitigation.

BlueHealth toolbox, BlueHealth project

The BlueHealth toolbox comprises six tools to help urban planners and designers when thinking about making changes to urban blue (and green) spaces (BlueHealth, 2020b). This includes a Decision Support Tool to identify the key health-related risks and benefits of an intervention, and a Behavioural Assessment Tool to quantify changes in activity using observational mapping before and after an intervention.

Tool Assessor, Ecosystems Knowledge Network

The Tool Assessor is an easy-to-use online repository of tools that may be useful for evaluating the different ecosystem service benefits of green and blue spaces (Ecosystems Knowledge Network, 2023). It includes specific tools to assess the carbon and biodiversity effects of change, assist in monetary valuation, help to map ecological connectivity, map ecosystem services and quantify the services provided by nature, as well as methodological guidance documents.

Artificial Intelligence for Environment & Sustainability, Integrated Modelling Partnership

Artificial Intelligence for Environment & Sustainability (ARIES) is an online platform that enables users to investigate the spatial mapping and quantification of ecosystem services in a location and the associated economic values (Basque Center for Climate Change, 2023). It can be used from the local to national levels for issues such as natural capital accounting, conservation planning, spatial policy planning and forecasting changes in ecosystem services.

Note: this list is not exhaustive and represents no endorsement.

11. How to appraise approaches to valuing nature

In order to have confidence in their findings, studies valuing urban green and blue spaces may need to be critically appraised. A number of existing tools aim to appraise the quality or reliability of research using different methods. These provide a series of questions against which the published research can be assessed and judged.

11.1 Critical appraisal of economic valuations

The Drummond checklist was designed to support the critique of economic evaluations of health care interventions, but contains many elements of relevance to any economic evaluation (Drummond, 2015). It assesses 10 items: (i) the research question; (ii) the description of the study/intervention; (iii) the study design; (iv) the identification, (v) measurement and (vi) valuation of costs and consequences; (vii) whether discounting was carried out; (viii) the incremental analysis; (ix) the presentation of results with uncertainty and sensitivity analyses; and (x) the discussion of results in the context of policy relevance and existing literature. A summary of the questions is available on the National Information Center on Health Services Research and Health Care Technology website (National Library of Medicine, 2023).

11.2 Critical appraisal of qualitative research

A number of frameworks exist to consider the quality, or trustworthiness, of qualitative research reports. Given that qualitative research can come from a wide range of academic disciplines and have different epistemological and ontological foundations, it may be challenging to identify approaches that are appropriate for all qualitative research (Garside, 2014). Nonetheless, it is desirable to distinguish between well and poorly conducted and reported qualitative research, particularly in the context of systematic reviews and qualitative evidence synthesis. An approach adapted from Wallace et al. (2004) covers the research question, theoretical perspective, study design, context, sampling, data collection, data analysis, reflexivity, generalizability and ethics.



12. Evidence gaps and research needs

Valuation of the health benefits of urban green and blue spaces is relatively new compared with, for example, valuation of the recreational benefits of urban green spaces. It is possible to estimate values based on the transfer of values for both health outcomes (e.g. dose–response functions) and monetary values for health (with adjustment for income). However, further city level studies on the epidemiology and valuation side are needed to further validate these estimates. In particular, the following suggestions are presented.

- Collect and collate further evidence in a consistent format on the use of green spaces in cities, including the number of people visiting the spaces and types of activity they undertake. The latter can be based on the use of existing tools such as the BlueHealth Behavioural Assessment Tool (Box 11) (BlueHealth, 2020).
- Conduct further studies on the dose-response function between exercise and health outcomes for different populations.
- **Morbidity valuation** is less well developed than mortality valuation, and the transfer of cost-of-illness estimates between different health contexts is difficult. Adopting consistent approaches to reporting and developing case studies in countries with different types of health systems would be useful.
- Well-being valuation methods are in their infancy. When implementing a change to a green or blue space, conduct a pre-/post-intervention evaluation of the well-being of residents using appropriate measures of well-being.
- Most studies relate to northern and western Europe. Further work is needed to investigate values in non-EU countries and contexts, where relationships with green and blue spaces may differ owing to cultural differences.
- **Use consistent reporting methods for valuation studies** to enable the better transfer of results between contexts. Studies should report factors such as the timing of data collection and price year for values, and list critical assumptions.
- Studies on the benefits of green and blue spaces should also consider negative impacts (e.g. exclusion, injuries, pollen exposure and other disbenefits).
- Improve the transfer of knowledge between cities on the valuation of the health benefits of green and blue spaces so that cities can learn from one another's experiences and develop new strategies. Conduct further studies on the relative costs and benefits of improving green and blue spaces that consider both the capital costs and operations and maintenance costs Evidence on these areas is limited.

13. Key messages and potential solutions

Green and blue spaces have a significant potential to deliver health benefits for urban populations. However, to avoid health inequities, the needs of different users need to be taken into account in both the design of facilities and the locations of green and blue spaces.

This report summarizes methods that can be used to place monetary values on the health benefits of green spaces. Such values can help policy-makers to appropriately allocate resources to green and blue spaces to ensure that these spaces are not undervalued and improve public and environmental health.

Suggestions to support decision-making about green and blue spaces by increasing the understanding of their benefits and value are to:

- **use the available tools** to quantitatively and qualitatively value the health benefits of green and blue spaces, and use this information to improve policy-making;
- design green and blue spaces that enable physical activity and improve mental health and well-being to give the greatest benefit for health;
- critically appraise the quantitative and qualitative evidence on nature benefits so that policy-makers can understand the quality of the evidence on the health value of green and blue spaces;
- involve a range of stakeholders who place different values on urban green and blue spaces in developing appropriate strategies;
- ensure that all policies that impact green and blue spaces (from climate adaptation to urban development policies) consider the health and well-being implications for urban populations, as well as the environmental and social impacts; and
- **promote knowledge-sharing and training** on valuation of the health and well-being benefits of green and blue spaces, including on economic valuation and qualitative methods.

Urban green and blue spaces are an important resource for health and well-being. As societies face the challenges of ageing populations, climatic and environmental change, and pressure on health systems, it is critical that to realize the multiple benefits of these spaces.

- 27 —



References¹

Alberini A, Hunt A, Markandya A (2006). Willingness to pay to reduce mortality risks: evidence from a three-country contingent valuation study. Environ Resource Econ. 33:251–64. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10640-005-3106-2.

Alcock I, White MP, Wheeler BW, Fleming LE, Depledge MH (2014). Longitudinal effects on mental health of moving to greener and less green urban areas. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48:1247–55. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/es403688w.

Anguelovski I, Connolly JJT, Pearsall H, Shokry G, Checker M, Maantay J et al (2019). Why green "climate gentrification" threatens poor and vulnerable populations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 116(52):26139–43. doi: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1920490117.

Arias-Arévalo P, Martín-López B, Gómez-Baggethun E (2017). Exploring intrinsic, instrumental, and relational values for sustainable management of social-ecological systems. Ecol Soc. 22(4) (https://www.jstor.org/stable/26799016).

Ashley P (2007). Toward an understanding and definition of wilderness spirituality. Aust Geogr. 38:53–69. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/00049180601175865.

Basque Center for Climate Change (2023). ARIES: an adaptive modelling technology [website]. In: Integrated Modelling Partnership. Leioa: Basque Center for Climate Change (https://aries.integratedmodelling.org/).

Baur JWR (2018). Urban green spaces, recreation and spiritual experiences. Leisure. 42:205–29. doi: https://doi.or g/10.1080/14927713.2018.1449131.

Bell SL, Wheeler BW, Phoenix C (2017). Using geonarratives to explore the diverse temporalities of therapeutic landscapes: perspectives from "green" and "blue" settings. Ann Am Assoc Geogr. 107:93–108. doi: https://doi.org /10.1080/24694452.2016.1218269.

Bertram C, Rehdanz K (2015). The role of urban green space for human well-being. Ecol Econ. 120:139–152.

Birch J, Rishbeth C, Payne SR (2020). Nature doesn't judge you – how urban nature supports young people's mental health and wellbeing in a diverse UK city. Health Place. 62:102296. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2020.102296.

Błaszczyk M, Suchocka M, Wojnowska-Heciak M, Muszyńska M (2020). Quality of urban parks in the perception of city residents with mobility difficulties. PeerJ. 8:e10570. doi: https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10570.

BlueHealth (2020a). BlueHealth Behavioural Assessment Tool (BBAT) [website]. Exeter: BlueHealth (https://bluehealth2020.eu/projects/bbat/).

BlueHealth (2020b). The BlueHealth Toolbox: guidance for urban planners and designers. Exeter: BlueHealth (https://bluehealth2020.eu/resources/toolbox/).

Bockarjova M, Botzen WJW, Koetse MJ (2020). Economic valuation of green and blue nature in cities: a meta-analysis. Ecol Econ. 169:106480. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2019.106480.

Börger T, Campbell D, White MP, Elliott LR, Fleming LE, Garrett JK et al. (2021). The value of blue-space recreation and perceived water quality across Europe: a contingent behaviour study. Sci Total Environ. 771:145597. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145597.

Braubach M, Egorov A, Mudu P, Wolf T, Ward Thompson C, Martuzzi M (2017). Effects of urban green space on environmental health equity and resilience. In: Kabisch N, Korn H, Stadler J, Bonn A (editors). Nature-based solutions to climate change adaptation in urban areas: linkages between science, policy and practice, theory and practice of urban sustainability transitions. Cham: Springer International Publishing:187–205. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-56091-5_11.

Brito HS, Carraça EV, Palmeira AL, Ferreira JP, Vleck V, Araújo D (2022). Benefits to performance and well-being of nature-based exercise: a critical systematic review and meta-analysis. Environ Sci Technol. 56:62–77. doi: https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.est.1c05151.

Britton E, Kindermann G, Domegan C, Carlin C (2020). Blue care: a systematic review of blue space interventions for health and wellbeing. Health Prom Int. 35:50–69. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/day103.

Cameron RWF, Brindley P, Mears M, McEwan K, Ferguson F, Sheffield D et al. (2020). Where the wild things are! Do urban green spaces with greater avian biodiversity promote more positive emotions in humans? Urban Ecosyst. 23:301–17. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11252-020-00929-z.

Carpiano RM (2009). Come take a walk with me: the "Go-Along" interview as a novel method for studying the implications of place for health and well-being. Health Place. 15:263–72. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2008.05.003.

1

All references were accessed 25 March 2023.

Chan KMA, Balvanera P, Benessaiah K, Chapman M, Díaz S, Gómez-Baggethun E et al. (2016). Why protect nature? Rethinking values and the environment. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 113:1462–5. doi: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1525002113.

Cheesbrough AE, Garvin T, Nykiforuk CIJ (2019). Everyday wild: urban natural areas, health, and well-being. Health Place. 56:43–52. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2019.01.005.

Chiabai A, Quiroga S, Martinez-Juarez P, Higgins S, Taylor T (2018). The nexus between climate change, ecosystem services and human health: towards a conceptual framework. Sci Total Environ. 635:1191–204. doi: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.323.

Chiesura A (2004). The role of urban parks for the sustainable city. Landsc Urban Plan. 68:129–38. doi: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2003.08.003.

Czembrowski P, Kronenberg J (2016). Hedonic pricing and different urban green space types and sizes: insights into the discussion on valuing ecosystem services. Landsc Urban Plan. 146:11–19. doi: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2015.10.005.

D'Amato G, Chong-Neto HJ, Monge Ortega OP, Vitale C, Ansotegui I, Rosario N et al. (2020). The effects of climate change on respiratory allergy and asthma induced by pollen and mold allergens. Allergy. 75:2219–28. doi: https://doi. org/10.1111/all.14476.

Dasgupta P (2021). The economics of biodiversity: the Dasgupta review. London: HM Treasury (https://www.gov.uk/ government/publications/final-report-the-economics-of-biodiversity-the-dasgupta-review).

Davis M, Naumann S (2017). Making the case for sustainable urban drainage systems as a nature-based solution to urban flooding. In: Nature-based solutions to climate change adaptation in urban areas. Cham: Springer International Publishing:123–37.

Decina SM, Ponette-González AG, Rindy JE (2020). Urban tree canopy effects on water quality via inputs to the urban ground surface. In: Levia DF, Carlyle-Moses DE, Iida S, Michalzik B, Nanko K, Tischer A (editors), Forest–water interactions. Cham: Springer International Publishing:433–57. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-26086-6_18.

Dempsey S, Devine MT, Gillespie T, Lyons S, Nolan A (2018). Coastal blue space and depression in older adults. Health Place. 54:110–17. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2018.09.002.

Desaigues B, Ami D, Bartczak A, Braun-Kohlová M, Chilton S, Czajkowski M et al. (2011). Economic valuation of air pollution mortality: a 9-country contingent valuation survey of value of a life year (VOLY). Ecol Indic. 11:902–10. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2010.12.006.

Dinnie E, Brown KM, Morris S (2013). Reprint of "Community, cooperation and conflict: negotiating the social wellbeing benefits of urban greenspace experiences". Landsc Urban Plan. 118:103–11. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. landurbplan.2013.07.011.

Donaldson C, Baker R, Mason H, Jones-Lee M, Lancsar E, Wildman J et al. (2011). The social value of a QALY: raising the bar or barring the raise? BMC Health Serv Res. 11:8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-11-8.

Drummond MF, Sculpher MJ, Claxton K, Stoddart GL, Torrance GW (2015). Methods for the economic evaluation of health care programmes, fourth edition. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Dzhambov AM, Dimitrova DD (2014). Urban green spaces' effectiveness as a psychological buffer for the negative health impact of noise pollution: a systematic review. Noise Health. 16:157–65. doi: https://doi.org/10.4103/1463-1741.134916.

Ebi KL, Vanos J, Baldwin JW, Bell JE, Hondula DM, Errett NA et al. (2021). Extreme weather and climate change: population health and health system implications. Annu Rev Public Health. 42:293–315. doi: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-012420-105026.

Ecosystems Knowledge Network (2023). Tool assessor [website]. In: Resources. Wallingford: Ecosystems Knowledge Network (https://ecosystemsknowledge.net/resources/tool-assessor/).

Engemann K, Pedersen CB, Arge L, Tsirogiannis C, Mortensen PB, Svenning J-C (2019). Residential green space in childhood is associated with lower risk of psychiatric disorders from adolescence into adulthood. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 116:5188–93. doi: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1807504116.

Engemann K, Svenning J-C, Arge L, Brandt J, Erikstrup C, Geels C et al. (2020). Associations between growing up in natural environments and subsequent psychiatric disorders in Denmark. Environ Res. 188:109788. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109788.

Enssle F, Kabisch N (2020). Urban green spaces for the social interaction, health and well-being of older people: an integrated view of urban ecosystem services and socio-environmental justice. Environ Sci Pol. 109:36–44. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2020.04.008.

EUFIC (2011). Measuring burden of disease: the concept of QALYs and DALYs [website]. In: EUFIC/Understanding Science. Brussels: EUFIC (https://www.eufic.org/en/understanding-science/article/measuring-burden-of-disease-the-concept-of-qalys-and-dalys).

European Commission (2013). The marginal cost of public funds in the EU: the case of labour versus green taxes. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union (https://taxation-customs.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2016-09/ taxation_paper_35_en.pdf).

European Environment Agency (2019). The European environment – state and outlook 2020: knowledge for transition to a sustainable Europe. Copenhagen: European Environment Agency (https://www.eea.europa.eu/soer/2020).

European Environment Agency (2022). Who benefits from nature in cities? Social inequalities in access to urban green and blue spaces across Europe. Copenhagen: European Environment Agency (No. 15/2021; https://www.eea.europa. eu/publications/who-benefits-from-nature-in).

Francis J, Giles-Corti B, Wood L, Knuiman M (2012). Creating sense of community: the role of public space. J Environ Psychol. 32:401–9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2012.07.002.

García de Jalón S, Chiabai A, McTague A, Artaza N, de Ayala A, Quiroga S et al. (2020). Providing access to urban green spaces: a participatory benefit-cost analysis in Spain. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 17(8):2818. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph17082818 (https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/17/8/2818).

Garden A, Downes G (2021). A systematic review of forest schools literature in England. Educ 3 13. 51(2):320–36. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/03004279.2021.1971275.

Garrett JK, Clitherow TJ, White MP, Wheeler BW, Fleming LE (2019). Coastal proximity and mental health among urban adults in England: the moderating effect of household income. Health Place. 59:102200. doi: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2019.102200.

Garside R (2014). Should we appraise the quality of qualitative research reports for systematic reviews, and if so, how? Innovation. 27:67–79. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/13511610.2013.777270.

Gratani L, Varone L, Bonito A (2016). Carbon sequestration of four urban parks in Rome. Urban For Urban Green. 19:184–93. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2016.07.007.

Gritzka S, MacIntyre TE, Dörfel D, Baker-Blanc JL, Calogiuri G (2020). The effects of workplace nature-based interventions on the mental health and well-being of employees: a systematic review. Front Psychiatry. 11:323. doi: https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00323.

Grosse SD, Krueger KV (2011). The income-based human capital valuation methods in public health economics used by forensic economics. J Forensic Econ. 22:43–57. doi: https://doi.org/10.5085/jfe.22.1.43.

Hansford KM, Wheeler BW, Tschirren B, Medlock JM (2022). Urban woodland habitat is important for tick presence and density in a city in England. Ticks Tick Borne Dis. 13:101857. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ttbdis.2021.101857.

Heintzman P (2009). The spiritual benefits of leisure. Leisure. 33:419–45. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/14927713.2009 .9651445.

Hintermann B, Alberini A, Markandya A (2010). Estimating the value of safety with labour market data: are the results trustworthy? Appl Econ. 42:1085–100. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/00036840802260940.

Hong A, Sallis JF, King AC, Conway TL, Saelens B, Cain KL et al. (2018). Linking green space to neighborhood social capital in older adults: the role of perceived safety. Soc Sci Med. 207:38–45. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.04.051.

Horváthová E, Badura T, Duchková H (2021). The value of the shading function of urban trees: a replacement cost approach. Urban For Urban Green. 62:127166. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2021.127166.

Houlden V, Jani A, Hong A (2021). Is biodiversity of greenspace important for human health and wellbeing? A bibliometric analysis and systematic literature review. Urban For Urban Green. 66:127385. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2021.127385.

Hunter RF, Cleland C, Cleary A, Droomers M, Wheeler BW, Sinnett D et al. (2019). Environmental, health, wellbeing, social and equity effects of urban green space interventions: a meta-narrative evidence synthesis. Environ Int. 130:104923. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.104923.

Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (2022). The assessment report on the diverse values and valuation of nature. Summary for policymakers. Bonn: Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (https://www.ipbes.net/the-values-assessment).

Irvine K, Warber S, Devine-Wright P, Gaston K (2013). Understanding urban green space as a health resource: a qualitative comparison of visit motivation and derived effects among park users in Sheffield, UK. J Environ Res Public Health. 10:417–42. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10010417.

Jelks NO, Jennings V, Rigolon A (2021). Green gentrification and health: a scoping review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 18:907. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18030907.

Jennings V, Browning MHEM, Rigolon A (2019). Urban green spaces at the nexus of environmental justice and health equity. In: Urban green spaces: public health and sustainability in the United States. Cham: Springer International Publishing:47–69 (https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-3-030-10469-6).

Jimenez MP, DeVille NV, Elliott EG, Schiff JE, Wilt GE, Hart JE et al. (2021). Associations between nature exposure and health: a review of the evidence. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 18:4790. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18094790.

Jones L, Holland RA, Ball J, Sykes T, Taylor G, Ingwall-King L et al. (2020). A place-based participatory mapping approach for assessing cultural ecosystem services in urban green space. People Nat. 2(1):123–37. doi: https://doi. org/10.1002/pan3.10057.

Kahlmeier S, Götschi T, Cavill N, Castro Fernandez A, Brand C, Rojas Rueda D et al. (2017). Health economic assessment tool (HEAT) for walking and for cycling: methods and user guide on physical activity, air pollution, injuries and carbon impact assessments. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/344136).

Kalfas D, Chatzitheodoridis F, Loizou E, Melfou K (2022). Willingness to pay for urban and suburban green. Sustainability. 14:2332. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/su14042332.

Keesing F, Ostfeld RS (2021). Impacts of biodiversity and biodiversity loss on zoonotic diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 118:e2023540118. doi: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2023540118.

King A, King D, Banchoff A, Solomonov S, Ben Natan O, Hua J et al. (2020). Employing participatory citizen science methods to promote age-friendly environments worldwide. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 17:1541. doi: https://doi. org/10.3390/ijerph17051541.

Kjellström T, Corvalán C (1995). Framework for the development of environmental health indicators. World Health Stat Q. 48(2):144–54. PMID: 8585233.

Knobel P, Dadvand P, Alonso L, Costa L, Español M, Maneja R (2021). Development of the urban green space quality assessment tool (RECITAL). Urban For Urban Green. 57:126895. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2020.126895.

Lane K, Charles-Guzman K, Wheeler K, Abid Z, Graber N, Matte T (2013). Health effects of coastal storms and flooding in urban areas: a review and vulnerability assessment. J Environ Public Health. 2013:e913064. doi: https://doi. org/10.1155/2013/913064.

Lapham SC, Cohen DA, Han B, Williamson S, Evenson KR, McKenzie TL et al. (2016). How important is perception of safety to park use? A four-city survey. Urban Studies. 53:2624–36. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098015592822.

Leavell MA, Leiferman JA, Gascon M, Braddick F, Gonzalez JC, Litt JS (2019). Nature-based social prescribing in urban settings to improve social connectedness and mental well-being: a review. Curr Environ Health Rep. 6:297–308. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40572-019-00251-7.

Maccagnan A, Taylor T, White MP (2020). Valuing the relationship between drug and alcohol use and life satisfaction: findings from the crime survey for England and Wales. J Happiness Stud. 21:877–98. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-019-00110-0.

Markevych I, Schoierer J, Hartig T, Chudnovsky A, Hystad P, Dzhambov AM et al. (2017). Exploring pathways linking greenspace to health: theoretical and methodological guidance. Environ Res. 158:301–17. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envres.2017.06.028.

Marselle MR, Bowler DE, Watzema J, Eichenberg D, Kirsten T, Bonn A (2020). Urban street tree biodiversity and antidepressant prescriptions. Sci Rep. 10:22445. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-79924-5.

McEachan RRC, Prady SL, Smith G, Fairley L, Cabieses B, Gidlow C et al. (2016). The association between green space and depressive symptoms in pregnant women: moderating roles of socioeconomic status and physical activity. J Epidemiol Community Health. 70:253–9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2015-205954.

Medlock JM, Leach SA (2015). Effect of climate change on vector-borne disease risk in the UK. The Lancet Infect Dis. 15:721–30. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(15)70091-5.

Menegaki AN, Bøye Olsen S, Tsagarakis KP (2016). Towards a common standard: a reporting checklist for webbased stated preference valuation surveys and a critique for mode surveys. J Choice Model. 18:18–50. doi: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jocm.2016.04.005.

Mitchell R (2013). Is physical activity in natural environments better for mental health than physical activity in other environments? Soc Sci Med. 91:130–4. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.04.012.

Mitchell RJ, Richardson EA, Shortt NK, Pearce JR (2015). Neighborhood environments and socioeconomic inequalities in mental well-being. Am J Prev Med. 49:80–4. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2015.01.017.

Morris G, Staatsen B, van der Vliet N (2019). Using conceptual models to shape healthy sustainable cities. In: Nieuwenhuijsen M, Khreis H (editors). Integrating human health into urban and transport planning. Cham: Springer International Publishing:683–706. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74983-9_33.

Morris GP, Reis S, Beck SA, Fleming LE, Adger WN, Benton TG et al. (2017). Scoping the proximal and distal dimensions of climate change on health and wellbeing. Environ Health. 16:116. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-017-0329-y.

Mygind L, Kjeldsted E, Hartmeyer R, Mygind E, Stevenson MP, Quintana DS et al. (2021). Effects of public green space on acute psychophysiological stress response: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the experimental and quasi-experimental evidence. Environ Behav. 53:184–226. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916519873376.

Naor L, Mayseless O (2020). The therapeutic value of experiencing spirituality in nature. Spiritual Clin Pract. 7:114–33. doi: https://doi.org/10.1037/scp0000204.

National Library of Medicine (2023). Health Economics Information Resources: a self-study course. Module 4: an introduction to the principles of critical appraisal of health economic evaluation studies. Drummond's check-list for assessing economic evaluations [website]. In: About the NLM/NLM by organization/Library operations/Public Services Division/National Information Center on Health Services Research and Health Care Technology. Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (https://www.nlm.nih.gov/nichsr/edu/healthecon/drummond_list.html).

Nutsford D, Pearson AL, Kingham S (2013). An ecological study investigating the association between access to urban green space and mental health. Public Health. 127:1005–11. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2013.08.016.

Office for National Statistics (2020). One in eight British households has no garden [website]. In: Office for National Statistics/Economy/Environmental accounts. Newport: Office for National Statistics (https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/oneineightbritishhouseholdshasnogarden/2020-05-14).

Ohly H, White MP, Wheeler BW, Bethel A, Ukoumunne OC, Nikolaou V et al. (2016). Attention restoration theory: a systematic review of the attention restoration potential of exposure to natural environments. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev. 19:305–43. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/10937404.2016.1196155.

Olsen JR, Nicholls N, Mitchell R (2019). Are urban landscapes associated with reported life satisfaction and inequalities in life satisfaction at the city level? A cross-sectional study of. 66 European cities. Soc Sci Med. 226:263–74. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.03.009.

Onose DA, Iojă IC, Niță MR, Vânău GO, Popa AM (2020). Too old for recreation? How friendly are urban parks for elderly people? Sustainability. 12:790. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/su12030790.

Pearce M, Garcia L, Abbas A, Strain T, Schuch FB, Golubic R et al. (2022). Association between physical activity and risk of depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Psychiatry. 79(6):550–9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2022.0609.

Pereira Barboza E, Cirach M, Khomenko S, Lungman T, Mueller N, Barrera-Gómez J et al. (2021). Green space and mortality in European cities: a health impact assessment study. Lancet Planet Health. 5:e718–30. doi: https://doi. org/10.1016/S2542-5196(21)00229-1.

Perry MA, Devan H, Fitzgerald H, Han K, Liu L-T, Rouse J (2018). Accessibility and usability of parks and playgrounds. Disabil Health J. 11:221–9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dhjo.2017.08.011.

Phoenix C, Bell SL, Hollenbeck J (2021). Segregation and the sea: toward a critical understanding of race and coastal blue space in Greater Miami. J Sport Soc Issues. 45:115–37. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/0193723520950536.

Plüschke-Altof B, Sooväli-Sepping H (2022). Contested urban green spaces and environmental justice in northern Europe. In: Whose green city? Cham: Springer International Publishing.

Pope D, Tisdall R, Middleton J, Verma A, van Ameijden E, Birt C et al. (2018). Quality of and access to green space in relation to psychological distress: results from a population-based cross-sectional study as part of the EURO-URHIS 2 project. Eur J Public Health. 28:35–8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckv094.

Putra IGNE, Astell-Burt T, Cliff DP, Vella SA, John EE, Feng X (2020). The relationship between green space and prosocial behaviour among children and adolescents: a systematic review. Front Psychol. 11:859. doi: https://doi. org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00859.

Ray C, Ming X (2020). Climate change and human health: a review of allergies, autoimmunity and the microbiome. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 17(13):4814. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17134814.

Reis S, Morris G, Fleming LE, Beck S, Taylor T, White M et al. (2015). Integrating health and environmental impact analysis. Public Health. 129(10):1383–9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2013.07.006.

Roberts H, van Lissa C, Hagedoorn P, Kellar I, Helbich M (2019). The effect of short-term exposure to the natural environment on depressive mood: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Environ Res. 177:108606. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019.108606.

Salmond JA, Tadaki M, Vardoulakis S, Arbuthnott K, Coutts A, Demuzere M et al. (2016). Health and climate related ecosystem services provided by street trees in the urban environment. Environ Health. 15:S36. doi: https://doi. org/10.1186/s12940-016-0103-6.

Sandler R (2012). Intrinsic value, ecology, and conservation. Nature Educ Knowl. 3(10):4 (https://www.nature.com/ scitable/knowledge/library/intrinsic-value-ecology-and-conservation-25815400/).

Schraufnagel DE, Balmes JR, Cowl CT, De Matteis S, Jung S-H, Mortimer K et al. (2019). Air pollution and noncommunicable diseases. Chest. 155:417–26. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chest.2018.10.041.

Schüle SA, Gabriel KMA, Bolte G (2017). Relationship between neighbourhood socioeconomic position and neighbourhood public green space availability: an environmental inequality analysis in a large German city applying generalized linear models. Int J Hyg Environ Health. 220:711–18. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2017.02.006.

Severin MI, Raes F, Notebaert E, Lambrecht L, Everaert G, Buysse A (2022). A qualitative study on emotions experienced at the coast and their influence on well-being. Front Psychol. 13:902122. doi: https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.902122.

Smith AD, Crippa A, Woodcock J, Brage S (2016). Physical activity and incident type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and dose–response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Diabetologia. 59:2527–45. doi: https://doi. org/10.1007/s00125-016-4079-0.

South EC, Hohl BC, Kondo MC, MacDonald JM, Branas CC (2018). Effect of greening vacant land on mental health of community-dwelling adults: a cluster randomized trial. JAMA Netw Open. 1:e180298. doi: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.0298.

Sreetheran M, van den Bosch CCK (2014). A socio-ecological exploration of fear of crime in urban green spaces: a systematic review. Urban For Urban Green. 13:1–18. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2013.11.006.

Stanford University (2023). InVEST [website]. In: Natural Capital Project. Stanford (CA): Stanford University (https:// naturalcapitalproject.stanford.edu/software/invest).

Stephenson J (2008). The cultural values model: an integrated approach to values in landscapes. Landsc Urban Plan. 84:127–39. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2007.07.003.

Stevenson MP, Schilhab T, Bentsen P (2018). Attention restoration theory II: a systematic review to clarify attention processes affected by exposure to natural environments. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev. 21:227–68. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/10937404.2018.1505571.

Stodolska M, Shinew KJ, Acevedo JC, Izenstark D (2011). Perceptions of urban parks as havens and contested terrains by Mexican-Americans in Chicago neighborhoods. Leis Sci. 33:103–26. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400.2011.5 50220.

Sun Y, Xie S, Zhao S (2019). Valuing urban green spaces in mitigating climate change: a city-wide estimate of aboveground carbon stored in urban green spaces of China's capital. Glob Change Biol. 25:1717–32. doi: https://doi. org/10.1111/gcb.14566.

Szkop Z (2016). An evaluation of the ecosystem services provided by urban trees: the role of Krasiński Gardens in air quality and human health in Warsaw (Poland). Environ Socioecon Stud. 4(4):41–50. doi: https://doi.org/10.1515/environ-2016-0023.

Talal ML, Santelmann MV, Tilt JH (2021). Urban park visitor preferences for vegetation: an on-site qualitative research study. Plants People Planet. 3:375–88. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/ppp3.10188.

Taylor L, Hochuli DF (2017). Defining greenspace: multiple uses across multiple disciplines. Landsc Urban Plan. 158:25–38. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2016.09.024.

Thompson Coon J, Boddy K, Stein K, Whear R, Barton J, Depledge MH (2011). Does participating in physical activity in outdoor natural environments have a greater effect on physical and mental wellbeing than physical activity indoors? A systematic review. Environ Sci Technol. 45:1761–72. doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/es102947t

Tillmann S, Tobin D, Avison W, Gilliland J (2018). Mental health benefits of interactions with nature in children and teenagers: a systematic review. J Epidemiol Community Health. 72:958–66. doi: https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2018-210436.

Tinch R, Beaumont N, Sunderland T, Ozdemiroglu E, Barton D, Bowe C et al. (2019) Economic valuation of ecosystem goods and services: a review for decision makers. J Environ Econ Policy. 8(4):359–78, doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/216 06544.2019.1623083.

Tsang A, Frost T, Cao H. Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) disclosure: a literature review. Br Account Rev. 55(1):101149. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bar.2022.101149.

Tu G, Abildtrup J, Garcia S (2016). Preferences for urban green spaces and peri-urban forests: an analysis of stated residential choices. Landsc Urban Plan. 148:120–31. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2015.12.013.

United Nations Environment Programme (2017). Frontiers. 2017: emerging issues of environmental concern. Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme (https://www.unep.org/resources/frontiers-2017-emerging-issues-environmental-concern).

van den Bogerd N, Elliott LR, White MP, Mishra HS, Bell S, Porter M et al. (2021). Urban blue space renovation and local resident and visitor well-being: a case study from Plymouth, UK. Landsc Urban Plan. 215:104232. doi: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2021.104232.

Van Den Eeden SK, HEM. Browning M, Becker DA, Shan J, Alexeeff SE, Thomas Ray G et al. (2022). Association between residential green cover and direct healthcare costs in northern California: an individual level analysis of 5 million persons. Environ Int. 163:107174. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2022.107174.

Vandergert P, Georgiou P, Peachey L, Jelliman S (2021). Urban blue spaces, health, and well-being. In: Cassin J, Gunn EL, Matthews JH (editors). Nature-based solutions and water security: an action agenda for the 21st century. Amsterdam: Elsevier:263–81. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-819871-1.00013-0.

Vella-Brodrick DA, Gilowska K (2022). Effects of nature (greenspace) on cognitive functioning in school children and adolescents: a systematic review. Educ Psychol Rev. 34(3):1217–54. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-022-09658-5.

Vert C, Gascon M, Ranzani O, Márquez S, Triguero-Mas M, Carrasco-Turigas G et al. (2020). Physical and mental health effects of repeated short walks in a blue space environment: a randomised crossover study. Environ Res. 188:109812. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109812.

Vert C, Nieuwenhuijsen M, Gascon M, Grellier J, Fleming LE, White MP et al. (2019). Health benefits of physical activity related to an urban riverside regeneration. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 16(3):462. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16030462.

Vivid Economics (2017). Natural capital accounts for public green space in London: report prepared for the Greater London Authority, National trust and Heritage Lottery Fund. London: Vivid Economics (https://www.vivideconomics. com/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/Natural-Capital-Accounts-Report-GLA-NT-HLF-1.pdf)

Wahlroos O, Valkama P, Mäkinen E, Ojala A, Vasander H, Väänänen V-M et al. (2015). Urban wetland parks in Finland: improving water quality and creating endangered habitats. Int J Biodivers Sci Ecosyst Serv Manag. 11:46–60. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/21513732.2015.1006681.

Walker-Springett K, Butler C, Adger WN (2017). Wellbeing in the aftermath of floods. Health Place. 43:66–74. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2016.11.005.

Wallace A, Croucher K, Quilgars D, Baldwin S (2004). Meeting the challenge: developing systematic reviewing in social policy. Policy Polit. 32:455–70. doi: https://doi.org/10.1332/0305573042009444.

White MP, Alcock I, Grellier J, Wheeler BW, Hartig T, Warber SL et al. (2019). Spending at least 120 minutes a week in nature is associated with good health and wellbeing. Sci Rep. 9:7730. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-44097-3.

White MP, Elliott LR, Grellier J, Economou T, Bell S, Bratman GN et al. (2021). Associations between green/blue spaces and mental health across 18 countries. Sci Rep. 11:8903. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-87675-0.

White MP, Elliott LR, Taylor T, Wheeler BW, Spencer A, Bone A et al. (2016). Recreational physical activity in natural environments and implications for health: a population based cross-sectional study in England. Prev Med. 91:383–8. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.08.023.

White MP, Elliott LR, Wheeler BW, Fleming LE (2018). Neighbourhood greenspace is related to physical activity in England, but only for dog owners. Landsc Urban Plan. 174:18–23. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2018.01.004.

WHO (2014). Global report on drowning: preventing a leading killer. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/143893).

WHO (2016). Urban green spaces and health. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/345751).

WHO (2017a). Health Economic Assessment Tool (HEAT) for walking and cycling [website]. In: WHO/Tools and toolkits. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/europe/tools-and-toolkits/health-economic-assessment-tool-for-cycling-and-walking).

WHO (2017b). Urban green space interventions and health: a review of impacts and effectiveness. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/366036).

WHO (2023). Health economic assessment tool (HEAT) for cycling and walking [website]. In: WHO/Tools and toolkits. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/europe/tools-and-toolkits/health-economic-assessment-tool-for-cycling-and-walking).

WHO Regional Office for Europe (2021a). Nature, biodiversity and health: an overview of interconnections. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/341376).

WHO Regional Office for Europe (2021b). Green and blue spaces and mental health: new evidence and perspectives for action. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/342931).

WHO Regional Office for Europe (2022). A health perspective on the role of the environment in One Health. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/354574.).

Wickham S, Taylor P, Shevlin M, Bentall RP (2014). The impact of social deprivation on paranoia, hallucinations, mania and depression: the role of discrimination social support, stress and trust. PLOS ONE. 9:e105140. doi: https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0105140.

Zhang R, Zhang C-Q, Rhodes RE (2021). The pathways linking objectively-measured greenspace exposure and mental health: a systematic review of observational studies. Environ Res. 198:111233. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envres.2021.111233.

Zhang Y, Mavoa S, Zhao J, Raphael D, Smith M (2020). The association between green space and adolescents' mental well-being: a systematic review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 17:E6640. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17186640.

The WHO Regional Office for Europe

The World Health Organization (WHO) is a specialized agency of the United Nations created in 1948 with the primary responsibility for international health matters and public health. The WHO Regional Office for Europe is one of six regional offices throughout the world, each with its own programme geared to the particular health conditions of the countries it serves.

Member States

Albania Andorra Armenia Austria Azerbaijan Belarus Belgium Bosnia and Herzegovina Bulgaria Croatia Cyprus Czechia Denmark Estonia Finland France Georgia Germany

Greece Hungary Iceland Ireland Israel Italy Kazakhstan Kyrgyzstan Latvia Lithuania Luxembourg Malta Monaco Montenegro Netherlands North Macedonia Norway Poland

Portugal Republic of Moldova Romania **Russian Federation** San Marino Serbia Slovakia Slovenia Spain Sweden Switzerland Tajikistan Türkiye Turkmenistan Ukraine United Kingdom Uzbekistan

WHO/EURO:2023-7508-47275-69347

WHO European Centre for Environment and Health Platz der Vereinten Nationen 1 D-53113 Bonn, Germany

> Tel.: +49 228 815 0400 Fax: +49 228 815 0440 E-mail: euroeceh@who.int Website: www.who.int/europe/ health-topics/environmental-health